

UnitedHealthcare® Community Plan **Medical Policy**

PROLOTHERAPY AND PLATELET RICH PLASMA THERAPIES (FOR LOUISIANA ONLY)

Policy Number: CS103LA.KL Effective Date: April 1, 2020 TBD

Instructions for Use (i)

Table of Contents	Page
APPLICATION	1
COVERAGE RATIONALE	1
APPLICABLE CODES	1
DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES	2
CLINICAL EVIDENCE	2
U.S. FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION	
CENTERS FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES	21
REFERENCES	21
POLICY HISTORY/REVISION INFORMATION	26
INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE	

Related Community Plan Policy

Bone or Soft Tissue Healing and Fusion **Enhancement Products**

Commercial Policy

Prolotherapy and Platelet Rich Plasma Therapies

APPLICATION

This Medical Policy only applies to the state of Louisiana.

COVERAGE RATIONALE

Due to insufficient evidence of efficacy, the following are unproven and not medically necessary for any condition or indication:

- **Prolotherapy**
- **Platelet-Rich Plasma**

Prolotherapy is unproven and not medically necessary due to insufficient evidence of efficacy.

Platelet-rich plasma is unproven and not medically necessary.

See MCG™ Care Guidelines, [24th edition, 2020], Platelet-Rich Plasma, A-0630(AC). Clinical Indications for Procedure section indicates Current Role Remains Uncertain.

Click here to view the MCG™ Care Guidelines.

Note: Refer to the Medical Policy titled Bone or Soft Tissue Healing and Fusion Enhancement Products for information relating to amnion-derived fluid injections/therapy.

APPLICABLE CODES

The following list(s) of procedure and/or diagnosis codes is provided for reference purposes only and may not be all inclusive. Listing of a code in this policy does not imply that the service described by the code is a covered or noncovered health service. Benefit coverage for health services is determined by federal, state or contractual requirements and applicable laws that may require coverage for a specific service. The inclusion of a code does not

imply any right to reimbursement or guarantee claim payment. Other Policies and Coverage Determination Guidelines may apply.

CPT Code	Description
0232T	Injection(s), platelet rich plasma, any site, including image guidance, harvesting and preparation when performed
0481T	Injection(s), autologous white blood cell concentrate (autologous protein solution), any site, including image guidance, harvesting and preparation, when performed
	CPT® is a registered trademark of the American Medical Association

HCPCS Code	Description
G0460	Autologous platelet rich plasma for chronic wounds/ulcers, including phlebotomy, centrifugation, and all other preparatory procedures, administration and dressings, per treatment
M0076	Prolotherapy
P9020	Platelet-rich plasma, each unit
S9055	Procuren or other growth factor preparation to promote wound healing

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES

According to the National Institute of Health, prolotherapy is an injection-based complementary and alternative medical (CAM) therapy for chronic musculoskeletal pain. A relatively small volume of an irritant or sclerosing solution is injected at sites on painful ligament and tendon insertions, and in adjacent joint space over the course of several treatment sessions (Rabago et al., 2010). Prolotherapy is **the** injection of any substance that promotes growth of normal cells, tissues, or organs. Also known as proliferative therapy, non-surgical ligament and tendon reconstruction and regenerative joint injection, projotherapy is an orthopedic a procedure that stimulates the body's healing processes to strengthen and repair injured and painful joints and connective tissue (American Osteopathic Association of Prolotherapy Regenerative Medicine [AOAPRM]).

There are three types of prolotherapy. Growth factor injection prolotherapy involves the injection of a complex protein that stimulates growth of a certain cell line. Growth factor stimulation prolotherapy causes the body to produce growth factors via dextrose injections. Inflammatory prolotherapy is the injection of a substance that causes activation of the inflammatory cascade to produce growth factors using dextrose, phenol-containing-solutions, and sodium-morrhuate-containing solutions (American Association of Orthopaedic Medicine [AAOM]).

Platelet rich plasma (PRP) is a concentrate of platelets and plasma proteins derived from a patient's whole blood, centrifuged to remove red blood cells and other unwanted components. It has a greater concentration of growth factors than whole blood and has been used as an autologous tissue injection in a variety of disciplines, including dentistry, orthopedic surgery, and sports medicine (Taber's, 2017).

Procuren® an autologous PRP product that has been used as treatment in the past for chronic wound healing, but it is no longer manufactured or commercially available.

CLINICAL EVIDENCE

Prolotherapy

The available studies on prolotherapy are limited to those that include short to medium term follow-up with no significant functional improvement compared to placebo. Additional studies are needed to further define treatment parameters and to determine whether a clinically significant improvement is achieved.

Low Back Pain (LBP)

The evidence from published studies indicates that prolotherapy may provide very limited, short term benefits for chronic back pain (CLBP). While prolotherapy improved CLBP in the short-term, the benefit was not maintained for more than a few weeks and outcomes were similar for placebo and treatment groups at 5-24 months. Prolotherapy may involve a single injection or a series of injections, often diluted with a local anesthetic.

A systematic review by Chou et al. (2009) included 174 articles of which 97 met criteria to assess the benefits and harms of nonsurgical interventional therapies for low back and radicular pain. Of the 97, only 5 addressed prolotherapy. Three of these studies found no difference between prolotherapy and either saline or local anesthetic control injections for short- or long-term (up to 24 months) pain or disability. One higher quality trial found prolotherapy associated with increased likelihood of short-term improvement in pain or disability versus control injection, but both treatment groups received a number of co-interventions including spinal manipulation, local injections, exercises, and walking. In the fifth trial, effects of prolotherapy could not be determined because the prolotherapy group received strong manipulation and the control injection group only light manipulation. The authors concluded that prolotherapy has not been found to be effective for the treatment of low back and radicular pain.

A systematic review by Dagenais et al. (2008) of articles on prolotherapy published from 1997 to 2007 concluded that that prolotherapy is one of a number of treatments recommended for CLBP. Prolotherapy has a long history of use, a reasonable but not proven theoretical basis, a low complication rate, and conflicting evidence of efficacy. It is considered contraindicated in patients with metastatic cancer, non-musculoskeletal pain, spinal anatomical defects, systemic inflammation, morbid obesity, bleeding disorders, low pain threshold, inability to perform post treatment exercises, chemical dependency, or whole body pain. Because high doses of a prolotherapy solution containing dextrose 12.5%, glycerin 12.5%, phenol 1.0%, and lidocaine 0.25% may produce a temporary increase in hepatic enzymes, it may not be prudent to not administer these solutions to patients with pre-existing hepatic conditions.

In a 2007 Cochrane Review on prolotherapy injections for CLBP, Dagenais et al. concluded that there is conflicting evidence regarding the efficacy of prolotherapy injections for patients with CLBP. When used alone, prolotherapy is not an effective treatment for this condition. When combined with spinal manipulation, exercise, and other cointerventions, prolotherapy may improve CLBP and disability. Conclusions are confounded by clinical heterogeneity amongst studies and by the presence of co-interventions.

Osteoarthritis (OA)

Krstičević and colleagues conducted a systematic review on the efficacy and safety of proliferative injection therapy (prolotherapy) for treatment of knee and hand OA. Seven RCTs were included, with 393 participants aged 40-75 years having joint pain ranging from 3 months to 8 years. Dextrose was the most commonly used agent, with follow-up ranging from 12 weeks to 12 months. All studies concluded that prolotherapy was effective treatment for OA and no serious AEs were reported. The authors concluded that current data about prolotherapy for OA should be considered preliminary and that future high-quality trials are warranted since these low-quality studies did not provide reliable evidence (2017).

In a systematic review and meta-analysis, Hung and colleagues (2016) compared the effectiveness of dextrose prolotherapy versus control injections and exercise in the management of OA pain. Searching PubMed and Scopus from the earliest record until February 2016, 1 single-arm study and 5 RCTs were included (n=326). The investigators estimated the effect sizes of pain reduction before and after serial dextrose injections and compared the values between dextrose prolotherapy, comparative regimens, and exercise 6 months after the initial injection. Regarding the treatment arm using dextrose prolotherapy, the effect sizes compared with baseline were 0.65, 0.84, 0.85, and 0.87 after the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th or more injections, respectively. The overall effect of dextrose was better than control injections, demonstrating superiority when compared with local anesthesia and exercise. There was an insignificant advantage of dextrose over corticosteroids which was only estimated from 1 study. The authors concluded that dextrose injections decreased pain in OA patients; but did not exhibit a positive dose-response relationship following serial injections. Dextrose prolotherapy was found to provide a better therapeutic effect than exercise, local anesthetics, and probably corticosteroids when patients were retested 6 months following the initial injection. The researchers also noted that the effect of prolotherapy

did not differ between hand and knee OA. This study had several drawbacks, including but not limited to the minimal number of trials eligible for meta-analysis, as well as heterogeneity in the patient populations, injection protocols, comparative regimens, and outcome assessment.

Knee (KOA)

Rahimzadeh et al (2018) investigated the effect of injecting intra-articular platelet-rich plasma (PRP) versus prolotherapy (PRL) on pain and function in knee osteoarthritis. In this randomized, double-blind trial, 42 patients with knee OA received intra-articular injections. "Patients in the PRP therapy group received 7 mL PRP solution and those in the PRL group received 7 mL 25% dextrose. Using the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC), levels of pain and knee function were evaluated and recorded for each patient immediately prior to the first injection as well as at 1 month (immediately prior to the second injection), 2 months (a month after the second injection), and 6 months later. During the first and second months, a rapid decrease in the overall WOMAC score was observed in both groups. The overall WOMAC score increased at the sixth month, but was lower than the overall WOMAC score in the first month. Statistical analysis indicated that the overall WOMAC score significantly decreased in both groups of patients over 6 months." The authors concluded that this study suggests a positive change in WOMAC score indicated an improvement in the quality or life of patients receiving either injection after the first injection, and that PRP is more effective than PRL in the treatment of OA of the knee. However they acknowledge that this study had limitations, e.g., "lack of a control group receiving placebo; lack of morphological assessment of cartilage, soft tissue, and structures in and around the knee joint; small sample size; and limited timeframe for patient assessment."

Sit et al. (2016) conducted a systematic review with meta-analysis to synthesize clinical evidence on the effect of prolotherapy for KOA. Of 134 citations identified, 3 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with moderate risk of bias and 1 quasi-randomized trial met inclusion criteria with data from a total of 258 patients. The primary outcome of interest was change in the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis (WOMAC) score. In the meta-analysis of 2 eligible studies, prolotherapy was superior to exercise alone by a standardized mean difference of 0.81, 0.78 and 0.62 on the WOMAC composite scale and WOMAC function and pain subscale scores, respectively. Moderate heterogeneity and risk of bias existed in all cases. The authors concluded that prolotherapy demonstrated a positive and significant beneficial effect in the treatment of KOA. Limitations of the review included the limited number of studies and their relatively small sample size. Larger, long-term trials with uniform outcomes and high methodological standards are needed for more a more comprehensive assessment of the overall treatment effect of prolotherapy.

van Drumpt et al. (2016) conducted an open label, prospective trial (NCT01773226) assessing safety and efficacy of an injection therapy for individuals with early to moderate OA. Using an Autologous Protein Solution (APS) called nSTRIDE®, 11 participants who had failed at least one other type of conservative therapy received the injection. Assessment for adverse events (AE) and clinical response outcomes occurred at 1 week, 2 weeks, 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months postinjection. Long-term follow up lasted an average of 18 months. Only mild AEs were reported. Postinjection pain scores were reduced by 83% and 90% at 3 and 6 months, respectively. At 18 months, mean WOMAC Index function scores reflected 61% improvement. The authors concluded that a single injection of APS for treatment of early to moderate KOA had very positive outcomes and that well-controlled, randomized multicenter clinical studies to confirm efficacy are warranted. Study limitations include the lack of a control group and small sample size, although the study design was deemed adequate to determine feasibility.

Kon et al. (2017) conducted a multicenter, double-blind, RCT to investigate if 1 intra-articular injection of APS can reduce pain and improve function in patients affected by KOA (NCT02138890). Forty-six patients with unilateral KOA were randomized into the APS group, which received a single ultrasound-guided injection of APS, and the saline (control) group, which received a single saline injection. Patient-reported outcomes and AE were collected at 2 weeks and at 1, 3, 6, and 12 months through a variety of assessment tools including the visual analog scale (VAS), WOMAC Index, and Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS). There were no significant differences in frequency and severity of AEs between groups. The improvement from baseline to 2 weeks and to 1, 3, and 6 months was similar between treatments as well. At 12 months, improvement in WOMAC pain score was 65% in the APS group and 41% in the saline group. There were no significant differences in VAS pain improvement between groups. Significant differences between groups were detected in changes from baseline to 12 months in bone marrow lesion size as

assessed on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and osteophytes in the central zone of the lateral femoral condyle, both in favor of the APS group. There were no significant differences between the APS and control group in other measured secondary endpoints. The authors concluded that this study supports that a single injection of APS is safe and demonstrates clinical improvement at 1-year in patients affected by KOA. Treatment with APS or a saline injection provided significant pain relief over the course of the study with differences becoming apparent at between 6 and 12 months after treatment. Study limitations include the need for longer follow up as well as small sample size.

O'Shaughnessey et al. (2014) conducted a multi-center controlled feasibility study (NCT01050894) to determine if blood from OA patients (n=105) could be mechanically processed to form an APS with preferentially increased concentrations of anti-inflammatory versus inflammatory cytokines. Through examination of whole blood taken from control donors and OA donors, it was identified that the APS device system does preferentially increase antiinflammatory cytokines over inflammatory cytokines. The study also identified that results were no different when using blood from the control or from the OA donors. The authors concluded that these results, combined with findings in previous studies, provide strong support for further investigation of APS as a promising therapy for OA.

A partially blinded controlled trial was performed by Rabago et al. (2013) to assess the relationship between KOA relative to quality of life (QOL) and intra articular cartilage volume in participants treated with prolotherapy over a 52 week period. It was noted that prolotherapy is an injection therapy reported to improve KOA-related QOL to a greater extent than blinded saline injections and at-home exercise, but its mechanism of action is unclear. It was noted that the prolotherapy showed improvement in the QOL in those with KOA compared with the controlled group over the 52 week period. The study authors concluded that prolotherapy may have a pain-specific disease modifying effect, but still requires further research and testing. The findings are limited by lack of randomization and appropriate blinding to the study interventions, which could have introduced a bias in the findings.

In a follow up to the above trial, Rabago et al. assessed long-term effects of prolotherapy on knee pain, function and stiffness among adults with KOA through a post clinical-trial, open-label follow-up case series. study. Participants n=65) received 3-5 monthly interventions and were assessed using the validated WOMAC index at baseline, 12, 26, 52 weeks, and 2.5 years. Progressive improvement in WOMAC scores were reported at all time intervals. The authors concluded that prolotherapy resulted in safe, significant, progressive improvement of knee pain, function and stiffness scores among most participants through a mean follow-up of 2.5 years and may be an appropriate therapy for patients with KOA refractory to other conservative care (2015). Findings are limited by lack of comparison group for the long-term findings.

In an Evidence-based Practice Center Systematic Review Protocol for the Treatment of KOA, the Agency for Healthcare Review and Quality (AHRQ) does not address intra-articular injected agents such as prolotherapeutic substances (Newberry et al., 2017).

There are several active clinical trials involving the APS nStride® (Zimmer Biomet) for KOA. For more information, go to www.clinicaltrials.gov. (Accessed October 28, 2020September 10, 2019)

Fingers

Jahangiri et al. compared the advantages of prolotherapy in the treatment of first carpometacarpal OA with those of corticosteroid local injection in a double-blind RCT. Sixty participants (60 hands) with OA of the first carpometacarpal joint were assigned equally to 2 groups. For the corticosteroid group, after 2 monthly saline placebo injections, a single dose of 40 mg methylprednisolone acetate (0.5 ml) mixed with 0.5 ml of 2% lidocaine was injected. For the dextrose (DX) group, 0.5 ml of 20% DX was mixed with 0.5 ml of 2% lidocaine and the injection was repeated monthly for 3 months. Pain intensity, hand function and the strength of lateral pinch grip were measured at the baseline and at 1, 2, and 6 months post-treatment. The 2 groups were comparable at 2 months, but significantly different at 1 month (better results for corticosteroid), and at 6 months (more favorable outcome for DX). After 6 months of treatment, both groups increased functional level, but DX seemed to be more effective. The authors concluded that for the long term, DX seemed to be more advantageous, while the 2 treatments were comparable in the short term. Further research with a large sample size is needed to compare possible complications of corticosteroid/lidocaine vs DX/lidocaine injections in the management of OA (2014).

Krstičević and colleagues conducted a systematic review on the efficacy and safety of proliferative injection therapy (prolotherapy) for treatment of knee and hand OA. Seven RCTs were included, with 393 participants aged 40–75 years having joint pain ranging from 3 months to 8 years. Dextrose was the most commonly used agent, with follow-up ranging from 12 weeks to 12 months. All studies concluded that prolotherapy was effective treatment for OA and no serious AEs were reported. The authors concluded that current data about prolotherapy for OA should be considered preliminary and that future high-quality trials are warranted since these low-quality studies did not provide reliable evidence (2017).

In a systematic review and meta analysis, Hung and colleagues (2016) compared the effectiveness of dextrose prolotherapy versus control injections and exercise in the management of OA pain. Searching PubMed and Scopus from the earliest record until February 2016, 1 single-arm study and 5 RCTs were included (n=326). The investigators estimated the effect sizes of pain reduction before and after serial dextrose injections and compared the values between dextrose prolotherapy, comparative regimens, and exercise 6 months after the initial injection. Regarding the treatment arm using dextrose prolotherapy, the effect sizes compared with baseline were 0.65, 0.84, 0.85, and 0.87 after the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, and 4th or more injections, respectively. The overall effect of dextrose was better than control injections, demonstrating superiority when compared with local anesthesia and exercise. There was an insignificant advantage of dextrose over corticosteroids which was only estimated from 1 study. The authors concluded that dextrose injections decreased pain in OA patients; but did not exhibit a positive dose-response relationship following serial injections. Dextrose prolotherapy was found to provide a better therapeutic effect than exercise, local anesthetics, and probably corticosteroids when patients were re-tested 6 months following the initial injection. The researchers also noted that the effect of prolotherapy did not differ between hand and knee OA. This study had several drawbacks, including but not limited to the minimal number of trials eligible for meta-analysis, as well as heterogeneity in the patient populations, injection protocols, comparative regimens, and outcome assessment.

Lateral Epicondylosis (LE)

A radomized clinical trial was conducted by Bayat et al (2019) comparing the efficacy of dextrose prolotherapy to steroid injection in the treatment of chronic lateral epicondylitis. Thirty subjects were randomly assigned to either the hypertonic dextrose group or the methylprednisolone group. "Participants were assessed through Quick DASH and VAS scores, once before injection, and then after 1and 3-months follow-up. Two patients were excluded due to not completing the follow-up timepoints." "In both groups VAS scores revealed significant improvement during the first month follow-up [mean <u>difference (MD) = 1.9 ± 3.3 , versus 1.5 ± 1.9 for the prolotherapy and steroid groups, respectively]. This</u> declining trajectory continued at the third month visit in the prolotherapy group and MD reached 4.4±2.9, while it did not change remarkably in the steroid group (MD=1.9±3.4). In fact, comparing VAS scores between the 1st- and 3rd-month time points did not reveal a significant improvement in the steroid group (p=0.6). Also, the Quick DASH index showed a similar pattern and improved remarkably in both groups during the first visit. However, only the efficacy in the prolotherapy group persisted after 3-month followup (MD = 9.5±21.6, p=0.044). One month after injections no preference between the two interventions was observed (p=0.74 for VAS and 0.14 for Quick DASH score). However, the 3rd-month follow-up revealed a meaningful superiority (p=0.03 for VAS and p=0.01 for Quick DASH score) favoring the prolotherapy method." The authors concluded that while both methods appeared to be effective in the short-term treatment of chronic lateral epicondylitis, the dextrose prolotherapy injections appeared to be slighly more efficacious over a longer period. This study is limited by the small study population and suboptimal data analysis.

Dong et al. (2015) conducted a systematic review and <u>Baysian network</u> meta-analysis comparing many injection therapies (including prolotherapy) for LE. All of the injection treatments showed a trend towards better effects than placebo, and the study authors concluded prolotherapy's superiority would need to be confirmed by more research. <u>The findings are limited by the inherent indiretness of network meta-analyses.</u>

Sims et al. (2014) conducted a systematic review of RCTs examining 11 non-surgical treatments for LE which included prolotherapy. They concluded that the existing literature does not provide conclusive evidence that there is one preferred method of non-surgical treatment for this condition.

A pilot study was conducted assessing dextrose prolotherapy (PrT) for chronic LE. The study design was three-arm RCT. Twenty-six adults (32 elbows) with chronic lateral epicondylosis for 3 months or longer were randomized to ultrasound-guided PrT with dextrose solution, ultrasound-guided PrT with dextrose-morrhuate sodium solution, or watchful waiting ("wait and see"). The primary outcome was the Patient-Rated Tennis Elbow Evaluation (PRTEE) (100 points) at 4, 8, and 16 weeks (all groups) and at 32 weeks (PrT groups). The secondary outcomes included pain-free grip strength and MRI severity score. The participants in both PrT groups reported improved PRTEE composite and subscale scores at 4, 8, and/or 16 weeks compared with those in the wait-and-see group. At 16 weeks, compared with baseline, the PrT with dextrose and PrT with dextrose-morrhuate groups reported improved composite PRTEE scores by a mean of 18.7 and 17.5 points, respectively. The grip strength of the participants receiving PrT with dextrose exceeded that of other 2 groups 8 and 16 weeks. There were no differences in MRI scores. Satisfaction was high and there were no AE. PrT resulted in safe, significant improvement of elbow pain and function compared with baseline status and follow-up data and the wait-and-see control group. This pilot study suggests the need for a definitive trial to validate these results across a larger population. (Rabago et al., 2013)

There are several open clinical trials involving the use of prolotherapy in the treatment of LE. For more information, go to www.clinicaltrials.gov. (Accessed October 28, 2020September 10, 2019)

Rotator Cuff (RC) Tendinopathies

A retrospective case series by Ryu et al (2018) investigated prolotherapy with polydeoxyribonucleotide (PDRN) as a possible viable treatment option for chronic rotator cuff tendinopathy. "The records of patients with chronic rotator cuff tendinopathy (n=131) were reviewed retrospectively, and the patients treated with PDRN prolotherapy (n=32) were selected.

The main outcome of the shoulder pain and disability index score on a numerical rating scale of average shoulder pain was measured. The authors concluded that compared to baseline data, significant improvements were shown in the shoulder pain and disability index and pain visual analog scale scores at one week after the end of treatment at at one month and three months later." They also concluded that "additional randomized multidisciplinary effectiveness trials that include imaging outcomes such as ultrasound are required to verify the effect of PDRN for chronic RCT compared with current therapies, including prolotherapy with PDRN." The findings are limited by lack of comaprison group.

Seven et al. (2017) evaluated the efficacy of prolotherapy in treating chronic refractory RC lesions through a randomized prospective comparative trial. Individuals with chronic RC lesions and symptoms that persisted for > 6 months were divided into 2 groups: the control group (n=60), treated with exercise 3 times weekly for 12 weeks; and the prolotherapy group (n=60), receiving 2 to 6 ultrasound-guided prolotherapy injection sessions in addition to the 3 times weekly home exercise program. A total of 101 patients out of 120 were included in the results. Clinical assessment of shoulder function was performed using a VAS for pain, Shoulder Pain and Disability Index (SPADI), Western Ontario Rotatory Cuff (WORC) Index, patient satisfaction, and shoulder range of motion (ROM). Participants were examined at baseline, weeks 3, 6, and 12, and last follow-up (minimum of one year). At one year, 92.9% versus 56.8% of participants reported excellent or good outcomes overall in the prolotherapy and control groups, respectively. No AEs were reported. Limitations of this study included but were not limited to small sample size and lack of a placebo control. The investigators concluded that prolotherapy is an easily applicable and satisfying auxiliary method in the treatment of partial RC lesions, reducing pain and improving both shoulder function and patient satisfaction. Larger studies with longer follow-up times are needed.

Bertrand and colleagues (2016) compared the effect of dextrose prolotherapy on pain levels and degenerative changes in painful RC tendinopathy. In this blinded RCT, 72 participants who received 3 monthly injections of 0.1% lidocaine with dextrose prolotherapy (entheses dextrose [Enth-Dex group]) or one of two control injections (entheses saline injection without dextrose [Enth-Saline group] or superficial saline injection [Superfic-Saline group]) were included in the 9-month follow-up data. All participants received concurrent physical therapy. The primary outcome measure was achieving an improvement in maximal current shoulder pain ≥ 2.8 (twice the minimal clinically important difference for VAS pain score). At 9 months, the Enth-Dex group maintained a 2.9-point improvement in pain in comparison with 1.8 and 1.3 for the Enth-Saline and Superfic-Saline groups, respectively. The use of prolotherapy in the Enth-Dex group reported a significant improvement compared to the Superfic-Saline group (16 [59%] vs. 7 [27%]; however, the difference between the Enth-Dex group and the Enth-Saline group did not reach

clinical significance. The authors concluded that prolotherapy may provide an effective and welcome addition to the management of patients with painful RC tendinopathy. Additional, larger clinical trials with more complete functional assessment tools are required to determine the clinical utility of this technology.

In a retrospective, observationalcase-control study, Lee and colleagues (2015) examined the effectiveness of prolotherapy for non-traumatic refractory RC disease in 151 patients who were unresponsive to 3 months of aggressive conservative treatment. Of the patients, 63 received prolotherapy with 16.5 % dextrose 10-ml solution (treatment group), and 63 continued conservative treatment (control group). Main outcome measures included VAS score of the average shoulder pain level for the past 1 week, SPADI score, isometric strength of the shoulder abductor, active ROM of the shoulder, maximal tear size on ultrasonography, and number of analgesics required per day. Over 1-year follow-up, 57 patients in the treatment group and 53 in the control group were analyzed. There was no significant difference between the 2 groups in age, sex, shoulder dominance, duration of symptoms, and ultrasonographic findings at pre-treatment. The average number of injections in the treatment group was 4.8. Compared with the control group, outcome measures showed significant improvement in the treatment group. There were no AEs. The authors concluded that prolotherapy can be an option for patients with refractory chronic RC disease who showed no response to other treatments. They stated that prospective RCTs are needed to further demonstrate efficacy. The only limitation cited was the non-randomized retrospective study design.

Groin Pain

A case series by Topol and Reeves (2008) evaluated the use of prolotherapy in 75 athletes with chronic groin/abdominal pain. Participants received monthly injections of 12.5% dextrose in 0.5% lidocaine for 2 months. Average number of treatments received was 3 (range 1–6). Outcomes were measured using VAS and Nirschl pain phase scale (NPPS). Seventy two athletes completed the full treatment. Follow-up occurred at an average of 26 months (range 6–73). VAS and NPPS improved 82% and 79% respectively. Sixty-six of 72 athletes returned to full sport, and all but 2 of the 66 athletes returned to full sport pain free. The authors found that 81% of the athletes had improvement in pain with 92% returning to unrestricted sports. The study is limited by small sample size and study design which did not provide a comparison group. Additional studies are needed to validate these results across a larger and more diverse population.

Temporomandibular Joint (TMJ) Hypermobility

A randomized controlled trial conducted by Louw et al (2019) studied the effect of hypertonic dextrose injection (prolotherapy) for the treatment of temporomandbular dysfunction. Forty-two partaicipante (54 joints) were randomized to 3 monthly intra-articular injections of 20% dextrose / 0.2% lidocane or to 0.2% lidocaine. This was followed by injections of dexrose/0.2% locodaine as needed through 1 year. Facial pain and jaw dysfunction, maximal interincisal opening, percentage of joint with 50% or more improvement in pain/function, and patient satisfaction were the primary and secondary outcome measures. "Randomization produced a control group with more female participants (P = .03), longer pain duration (P = .01), and less MIO (P = .01). Upon 3-month analysis, including pertinent covariates, dextrose group participants reported decreased jaw pain $(4.3\pm2.9 \text{ points vs } 1.8\pm2.7 \text{ points; } P = .02)$, jaw dysfunction (3.5 \pm 2.8 points vs 1.0 \pm 2.1 points; P =.008), and improved MIO (1.5 \pm 4.1 mm vs -1.8±5.1 mm; P = .006). Control group participants received dextrose injections beginning at 3 months. No between-group differences were noted at 12 months; pooled data suggested that jaw pain, jaw function, and MIO improved by 5.2±2.7 points (68%), 4.1±2.8 points (64%), and 2.1±5.5 mm, respectively. Pain and dysfunction improved by at least 50% in 38 of 54 (70%) and 39 of 54 (72%) jaws, respectively." The authors concluded that prolotherapy resulted in substantial improvement in jaw pain, function and maximal interincisal opening compared with masked control injection at 3 months; with clinical improvements enduring to 12 months. This study is limited by the small patient population and suboptimal data analysis / reporting.

Cömert Kiliç et al. (2016) conducted a RCTI involving 30 adult patients with bilateral TMJ hypermobility referred for treatment. They were divided randomly into 2 treatment groups using either saline (placebo group) or dextrose injections (study group). The solution was injected into 5 different TMJ areas in 3 sessions at monthly intervals. The predictor variable was the treatment technique. The outcome variables were VAS evaluations and maximum interincisal opening (MIO). Outcome variables were recorded preoperatively and at 12 months postoperatively. The follow-

Prolotherapy and Platelet Rich Plasma Therapies (for Louisiana Only) UnitedHealthcare Community Plan Medical Policy

up sample was comprised of 26 subjects, 12 in the placebo group and 14 in the study group. Masticatory efficiency increased and general pain complaints and joint sounds decreased significantly in both groups. MIO decreased significantly only in the study group. Insignificant changes in the other parameters were found for both groups. The authors concluded that after estimating differences between follow-up and baseline outcomes, the mean change in primary outcome variables showed no statistically significant difference between the 2 groups, suggesting that dextrose prolotherapy is no more effective than placebo for TMJ hypermobility.

Zhou and colleagues conducted a single center <u>case series ofstudy</u> with 45 patients, introducing a modified technique of prolotherapy using an injection of lignocaine and 50% dextrose at a single site in the posterior periarticular tissues. The criteria for inclusion in this study were open lock of the jaw > twice in the past 6 months, and no long-standing dislocation of the TMJ. Patients were followed for at least one year. There were appreciable improvements in the number of episodes of dislocation and clicking after the injection. The overall success rate, defined as the absence of any further dislocation or subluxation for more than 6 months, was 41/45 (91%). Of the 41 rehabilitated patients, 26 (63%) required a single injection, 11 (27%) had 2 treatments, and 4 (10%) needed a third injection. All patients tolerated the injections well. The authors concluded that the modified dextrose prolotherapy is simple, safe, and cost-effective for the treatment of recurrent dislocation of the TMJ. Study limitations include small study size and the lack of a control group (2014).

Refai, et al. (2011) conducted a prospective, double-blind RCT with 12 patients to assess the efficacy of dextrose prolotherapy for the treatment of TMJ hypermobility. While therapeutic results were promising, the authors concluded that continued research into prolotherapy's effectiveness with large sample sizes and long-term follow-up is needed.

Lower Limb Tendonopathies

Because their efficacy and potential AEs are unclear, Morath et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of available published literature on sclerotherapy and prolotherapy for treating Achilles tendinopathy (AT) in athletes. While the initial search yielded 1104 entries, only 13 were human studies. Four RCTs were ranked as having a low risk of selection bias. Three of those reported a statistically significant drop in the VAS score. Positive results regarding pain relief and patient satisfaction were identified in 12 of the 13 studies. The authors stated that the meta Meta-analysis was clearly in favor of the intervention. Only one serious AE and two minor AEs were reported in the entire body of literature. The researchers concluded that both sclerotherapy and prolotherapy are safe and may be effective treatment options for AT, however long-term studies and RCTs are still needed to support their recommendation. The conclusions are limited by a mix of human and animal studies, controlled and uncontrolled studies, and questionable choice of comparation groups.

A systematic review by Sanderson and Bryant (2015) evaluated the effectiveness and safety of prolotherapy injections for management of lower limb tendinopathy and fasciopathy. While no AEs following prolotherapy injections were reported in any study in this review, the authors found limited evidence that prolotherapy injections are a safe and effective treatment for AT, PF and Osgood-Schlatter disease. More robust research using large, methodologically-sound RCTs is required.

Platelet Rich Plasma (PRP) Therapies

While some available studies are promising, the majority of evidence on platelet-derived blood or plasma therapies compared to other standard treatment is highly variable with regard to efficacy or improved health outcomes for a wide range of conditions. Higher quality studies with longer follow up as well as standardization of best practices are needed to determine the benefit of this technology.

Osteoarthritis (OA)

Knee (KOA)

A randomized, double-blind, triple-parallel, placebo-controlled trial by Lin and colleagues (2019) prospectively compared the efficacy of intraarticular (IA) injections of PRP and hyaluronic acid (HA) with a sham control group (normal saline solution [NS]) for KOA. A total of 87 osteoarthritic knees (53 patients) were assigned to 1 of 3 groups receiving 3 weekly injections of either LP-PRP (31 knees), HA (29 knees), or NS (27 knees). The WOMAC Index score and International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) subjective score were collected at baseline and at 1, 2, 6, and 12 months after treatment. All 3

groups showed statistically significant improvements in both outcome measures at 1 month; however, only the PRP group sustained the significant improvement in both the WOMAC and IKDC scores at 12 months, showing improvement of 21% and 40%, respectively. There was no significant difference in both functional outcomes between the HA and NS groups at any time point. Only the PRP group reached the minimal clinically important difference in the WOMAC score at every evaluation. Study limitations included small sample size and that the trial did not include imaging studies for the evaluation of joint cartilage post-injection. The authors concluded that IA injections of LP PRP can provide clinically significant functional improvement for at least 1 year in patients with mild to moderate KOA. Future long-term studies of larger sample sizes encompassing all stages of degeneration with the inclusion of imaging evaluation and biomarker analysis of the knee joints are warranted to further elucidate these findings. These findings need to be reproduced in additional large high-quality studies to assess the implications for clinical care.

Delanois and colleagues conducted a systematic review and analysis of reports evaluating: (1) PRP injections; (2) bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BMSCs); (3) adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (ADSCs); and (4) amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cells (AMSCs) in management of KOA. Of 1009 studies identified within the last 5 years, 123 met inclusion criteria. Although the majority of PRP reports demonstrated improvements in pain and/or function, some revealed no substantial improvements. Similar findings were noted for the other therapy. The reviewers concluded that although some promising early results for PRP, BMSC, ADSC, and AMSC therapies were identified, the majority of level I studies have multiple problems including but not limited to small sample sizes, potentially inappropriate control cohorts, and short-term follow-up. Despite the limitations, they indicate that there still appears to be evidence justifying their use for KOA management. More high-level, larger human studies utilizing standardized protocols are needed (2019).

Annaniemi et al. (2018) conducted a retrospective study with 190 participants to compare PRP versus viscosupplements in terms of symptom relief and time to arthroplasty in patients with KOA. Subjects received either IA injections of PRP (94 patients), which the authors label as "an experimental treatment in osteoarthritis", or HA (86 patients) between January 2014 and October 2017. WOMAC, VAS, and range of motion (ROM) were measured before injection, at 15 days, 6 months, 12 months, and at final follow-up. Individuals treated with HA experienced a higher arthroplasty rate (36% vs 5.3%), lower ROM, worse VAS and WOMAC Index scores, and increased risk of any arthroplasty occurrence than those treated with PRP. Cox proportional hazards analysis revealed a tendency to decrease the risk of knee arthroplasty for the participants treated by PRP. When adjusted for propensity score in matched pairs (n=78), the PRP group still showed significant improvement over the HA group in arthroplasty rate (12.8% vs 41%), VAS and WOMAC scores, but not in ROM during the mean follow-up of 16.7 months. Authors found that in comparison to HA, IA injections of PRP are associated with better outcomes, prolonged time to arthroplasty, and a valid therapeutic option in select KOA patients who are unresponsive to conventional treatments. A limitation of retrospective study design was cited by the authors, who concluded that further larger studies are needed to validate this promising treatment modality. Additionally, the findings are limited by lack of randomization between intervetions, which could have introduced biases and multiple comparisons.

A blinded, comparative RCT by Di Martino and colleagues (2018) evaluated long-term clinical outcomes provided by IA injections of either PRP or HA to treat knee degenerative disease. 192 patients underwent 3 blinded weekly IA injections of either PRP or HA. Patients were prospectively evaluated pre-injection, and then at 2, 6, 12, and 24 months with a mean of 64.3 months of follow up. Primary outcomes were based on subjective IKDC evaluation, secondary outcomes based on EuroQol VAS and Tegner scores. 167 participants reached the final evaluation. Both treatments were effective in improving knee functional status and symptoms over time. Mean IKDC subjective score improved significantly for both groups and remained stable over time up to 24 months and at final evaluation. A comparative analysis showed no significant intergroup difference in any of the clinical scores at any follow-up point. The median duration of patient subjective perception of symptomatic relief was 9 months for HA and 12 months for PRP, which

was considered insignificant. The only significant difference was observed in the rate of reintervention at 24 months, which was significantly lower in the PRP group (22.6% vs 37.1%). While both treatments were effective in improving knee functional status and symptoms over time, researchers concluded that PRP did not provide an overall superior clinical improvement compared with HA in terms of either symptomatic-functional improvement at different follow-up points or effect duration (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT01670578).

A systematic literature review and meta-analysis if possible were performed by Laudy et al. to evaluate the effectiveness of PRP injections for KOA based on decreasing pain, improving function, global assessment and changes regarding joint imaging. Ten trials were included. Most of these compared PRP to HA and were observational. The author identified only one RCT comparing PRP to placebo (Patel, et al. 2013), which is also review with newer studies in the systematic review by Delanois, et al. (2019). In the studies reviewed by Laudry, et al.se, IA PRP injections were more effective for pain reduction compared with placebo or HA, but the level of evidence was limited due to a high risk of bias. (2015).

A comparative effectiveness review of PRP for KOA stated that IA-PRP is a minimally invasive treatment associated with few complications that may be appealing when more conservative therapies (e.g., oral medications, PT), are contraindicated, unavailable, or fail to provide adequate relief. Current evidence suggests limited difference in efficacy from IA-HA at up to 6 months, but that IA-PRP may associated with better outcomes at 1-year follow-up. If IA-PRP can be conclusively shown to provide benefits over IA-HA at 1 year, it has the potential to displace IA-HA. Future research should consider the role of PRP preparation protocols upon efficacy, as they vary considerably across studies. There is no standardization or consensus as to best practices, nor is there clear understanding of which steps and factors (if any) are associated with better outcomes. These factors are likely to bear upon acceptance of PRP as an alternative to IA-CS or IA-HA in the future (Hayes, 2018).

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE)

NICE's 2019 interventional procedures guidance on PRP injections for KOA states that the technology raises no major safety concerns however, the evidence on efficacy is limited in quality. Therefore, this procedure should only be used with special arrangements for clinical governance, consent, and audit or research. Further research should be in the form of RCTs with medium- to long-term follow-up, including validated measures of knee function and patient-reported outcomes.

Hip Osteoarthritis (HOA)

A Hayes report of published literature on the use of PRP for the treatment of HOA identified 4 RCTs representing 303 patients who were treated with intra-articular (IA)-PRP or IA-HA. They stated that the small body of low-quality evidence suggests that pain and function outcomes may improve after treatment with ultrasound-guided IA-PRP and remain better than pretreatment status up to 1 year. IA-PRP outcomes do not appear to be different from those obtained with IA injection with IA-HA, a common treatment alternative for which there is uncertainty regarding the clinical significance of treatment benefits. There is insufficient evidence available to draw firm conclusions about safety; the limited published evidence indicates that IA-PRP is safe and well tolerated. Long-term effects of PRP therapy beyond 1 year have not been established. The report concludes that there is potential but unproven benefit of PRP for HOA. Future studies may help determine whether IA-PRP is more efficacious than placebo or other active treatments and provide additional information regarding potential harms (2019).

Dallari et al. (2016, included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a comparative, blinded, RCT to compare therapeutic efficacy of autologous PRP, HA, or a combination of both (PRP+HA) in HOA. Participants (n=111) were assigned to 3 groups and received 3 weekly injections of either PRP (44 patients), PRP+HA (31 patients), or HA (36 patients). The primary outcome measure was a change in pain intensity as assessed by the VAS at 2, 6, and 12 months after treatment. Secondary outcome measures included the WOMAC Index. The PRP group had the lowest VAS scores at all follow ups. In particular, the mean VAS score in the PRP, PRP+HA, and HA groups was 21, 35, and 44 at 6 months, respectively. The WOMAC score of the PRP group was significantly better at 2- and 6- month follow-ups,

but not at 12 months. The authors concluded that these results indicated that IA PRP injections offer a significant clinical improvement in patients with HOA without relevant side effects. The benefit was significantly more stable up to 12 months as compared with the other tested treatments. The addition of PRP+HA did not lead to a significant improvement in pain symptoms.

Dold and colleagues conducted a systematic review of PRP for articular cartilage pathology. Literature search was conducted for studies published up to October 2012 that assessed clinical outcomes of the use of PRP for the treatment of chondral and osteochondral pathology, excluding those including concomitant management of acute fractures or ligament reconstruction. Ten studies were included in the final analysis, but only one addressed use of PRP for HOA and was only level IV evidence-(2014).

Battaglia et al. (2013, included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a randomized comparative study of PRP vs HA with 12 months of follow-up in patients with HOA. One hundred subjects received PRP (group A) and or HA administered via IA US-guided injections (group B). Patients were evaluated at baseline and after 1, 3, 6, and 12 months using the Harris Hip Score and VAS. An overall improvement was detected in both groups between 1- and 3-month follow-up. Despite a slightly progressive worsening between 6- and 12-month follow-up, the final clinical scores remained higher compared with baseline with no significant differences between PRP and HA. The authors concluded that injections of PRP are efficacious in terms of functional improvement and pain reduction but are not superior to HA in patients with symptomatic hip OA at 12-month follow-up.

Soft Tissue (Tendon, Joint and other Soft Tissue Areas of the Body)

Balasubramaniam et al. (2015) systematically reviewed the literature regarding PRP therapy in chronic tendinopathy. A total of 389 articles were reviewed from Feb 2010 to April 2014, with 9 RCTs meeting inclusion criteria. Each article was reviewed independently by 2 authors. Each article was analyzed using the Cochrane Criteria checklist. The review found that PRP was most effective in patellar and lateral epicondylar tendinopathy, with both RCTs in the patellar section of the study supporting the use of PRP in pain reduction at 3 and 12 months, whereas 2 of 4 studies in the lateral epicondylar section showed improvements in pain and disability at 6 and 12 months. There was a lack of evidence to support the use of PRP in Achilles and RC tendinopathy. The authors concluded that although the results of this review showed promise for the use of PRP in chronic tendinopathy, the analysis highlighted the need for more controlled clinical trials comparing PRP with placebo. The findings are limited by the small number of quality studies for each indication and incosnsitent results of the intervention.

Moraes et al. (2014) conducted a Cochrane review to assess the effect of platelet rich therapy (PRT) for musculoskeletal soft tissue injuries. Nineteen studies were found that compared PRT with placebo, autologous whole blood, DN or no PRT (n=1,088). The trials covered 8 types of injury, some of which were treated surgically: RC tears, shoulder impingement syndrome, tennis elbow, knee ligament reconstruction using autologous and donor grafts, PT, AT, and acute rupture of the Achilles tendon. The available evidence base comprised a diverse collection of small trials that applied PRT in various ways for treating tendinopathies or as an augmentation procedure for surgically treated soft tissue injuries. There was very low quality evidence from a subset of the trials for a marginal short-term benefit in pain from PRT; however, other very low quality evidence indicated that using PRT did not appear to have a clinically relevant effect on short-term or long-term function. Very low quality evidence showed no difference in AEs between the PRT and the various control interventions. Overall, and for the individual conditions, researchers concluded there is currently insufficient evidence to support the use of PRT for treating these injuries.

In 2016, the Washington State Health Care Authority (WSHCA) conducted a technology assessment to evaluate the safety and efficacy of PRP and/or ABI for the treatment of various musculoskeletal and orthopedic conditions. As part of the technology assessment, a total of 54 RCTs and 8 cohort studies were included and reviewed. Limitations of the studies noted by the Committee generally included small sample populations, short-term follow-up, inconsistency of measured outcomes, potential for risk bias, and lack of high quality evidence. The authors concluded there was insufficient evidence to draw strong

conclusions regarding safety and efficacy. Moreover, the Committee reported despite its current use, standardization of PRP preparation is lacking, and although the technology to obtain PRP is FDA-approved, PRP is currently not indicated for direct injection.

Knee

A Hayes comparative effectiveness review on PRP for treatment of ligament injuries and tendinopathies of the knee identified 1 good-quality systematic review and meta-analysis with findings from 4 RCTs and 2 quasi-RCTs assessing the efficacy of PRP versus no PRP in anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction (ACLR) surgery or at the patellar graft donor site. Two additional primary RCTs were identified that supplemented these data. Two primary RCTs were identified that examined the use of PRP versus no PRP in patients with PT. No studies of PRP use in medial collateral ligament (MCL) injuries were found. The use of PRP in ACLR may not yield different functional outcomes from ACLR without PRP. However, limited evidence from patients who received PRP for patellar donor site morbidity suggests that function may improve more by 12 months compared with patients who did not receive PRP treatment and that use of PRP may reduce graft donor site pain more than no PRP. With regard to PT, limited and conflicting evidence precludes conclusions regarding functional improvement and pain reduction for PRP relative to some active controls. There is a paucity of evidence regarding the use of PRP to treat other ligament injuries or tendinopathies of the knee. The overall quality rating of the evidence was low to very low due to study limitations and inconsistency in the data and the report concluded that there was no proven benefit for this indication (2017; reviewed 20±920).

Dragoo and colleagues (included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a blinded RCT with 23 participants with patellar tendinopathy (PT) to compare clinical outcomes after a single US-guided, LR-PRP injection versus dry needling (DN). After failing non-operative treatment, participants were randomized to receive US-guided DN alone (DN group; n=13) or with injection of LR-PRP (PRP group; n=10), along with standardized eccentric exercises. The subjects completed patient-reported outcome surveys before and at 3, 6, 9, 12, and ≥ 26 weeks after treatment during follow-up visits. The primary outcome measure was the Victorian Institute of Sports Assessment (VISA) score for PT at 12 weeks. Secondary measures included the VAS for pain, Tegner activity scale, Lysholm knee scale, and Short Form (SF-12) questionnaire at 12 and ≥ 26 weeks. Patients who were dissatisfied at 12 weeks were allowed to cross over into a separate unblinded arm. At 12 weeks post-treatment, the PRP group had improved significantly more than the DN group, but the differences were not statistically significant at \geq 26 weeks. Lysholm scores were not significantly different between groups at 12 weeks, but significantly improved in the DN group at ≥ 26 weeks. At 12 weeks, 3 patients in the DN group failed treatment and subsequently crossed over into the PRP group. These patients were excluded from the primary ≥ 26-week analysis. There were no treatment failures in the PRP group and no AEs were reported. Recruitment for the trial was stopped because interim analysis demonstrated statistically significant and clinically important results. While a therapeutic regimen of standardized eccentric exercise and US-quided LR-PRP injection with DN accelerated the recovery from PT compared to exercise and US-guided DN alone, the authors stated that the apparent benefit of PRP dissipated over time. Limitations to this study include small sample size, short follow up period, and lack of intnetion to treat analysis beyond 12 weeks (2014).

Achilles Tendinitis (AT) and Plantar Fasciitis (PF)

In a 2019 comparative effectiveness review, Hayes concluded that while PRP is a minimally invasive treatment that is associated with very few complications, available evidence from randomized trials does not indicate better functional outcomes after AT repair (compared with no PRP), and evidence for use of PRP in AT is limited and inconclusive. For treatment of PF, PRP may lead to better functional and pain-related outcomes compared with corticosteroid injection but evidence for other comparators is limited. They identified that PRP development protocols varied considerably across studies; there was no consensus regarding best practices nor was there clear understanding of which steps and factors (if any) are associated with better outcomes.

<u>Usuelli et al. (2018, included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a prospective RCT comparing the efficacy of PRP and stromal vascular fraction (SVF) injection for the treatment of non-insertional</u>

Achilles tendinopathy (AT). A total of 44 participants were assigned to the PRP group (n=23) or the SVF group (n=21), for a total of 28 tendons per group. Outcomes were measured using the VAS pain scale, the VISA-Achilles (VISA-A), the American Orthopaedic Foot & Ankle Society (AOFAS) Ankle-Hindfoot Score and the SF-36 form, assessing pre-operatively and at 15, 30, 60, 120 and 180 days from treatment. Patients were also evaluated by US and magnetic resonance (MR) before treatment and after 4 (US only) and 6 months. Comparing the 2 groups, VAS, AOFAS and VISA-A scored significantly better at 15 and 30 days in the SVF in comparison to the PRP group. At remaining assessment points, the scores were not significantly different between the 2 groups; and no correlation was found between clinical and radiological findings. The researchers concluded that both PRP and SVF were safe and effective treatments for recalcitrant AT. The patients treated with SVF obtained faster results, thus suggesting that such a treatment should be taken into consideration for those individuals who require an earlier return to daily activities or sport. Limitations to this study include small sample size and limited follow up period, as well as a comparison of PRP to a non-established treatement.

Boesen et al. (2017, included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted an RCT to determine whether eccentric training in combination with high-volume injection (HVI) or PRP injections improves outcomes in AT. A total of 60 men with chronic (> 3 months) AT were included and followed for 6 months (n=57). All participants performed eccentric training combined with either (1) one HVI (steroid, saline, and local anesthetic), (2) four PRP injections each 14 days apart, or (3) placebo (a few drops of saline under the skin). Randomization was stratified for age, function, and symptom severity on the VISA-A. Outcomes included function and symptoms (VISA-A), self-reported tendon pain during activity using VAS, tendon thickness and intratendinous vascularity using US imaging and Doppler signal, and muscle function via heel-rise test. Outcomes were assessed at baseline and at 6, 12, and 24 weeks of follow-up. VISA-A scores improved in all groups at all time points, with greater improvement in the HVI group. VAS scores improved in all groups at all time points, with overall greater decrease in HVI and PRP versus placebo. Tendon thickness showed a significant decrease only in HVI and PRP groups during the intervention. Muscle function improved in the entire cohort with no difference between the groups. The researchers concluded that treatment with HVI or PRP in combination with eccentric training in chronic AT seems more effective in reducing pain, improving activity level, and reducing tendon thickness and intratendinous vascularity than eccentric training alone. HVI may be more effective in improving outcomes of chronic AT than PRP in the short term. Study limitations include small sample size and short term follow up

Gogna and colleagues (2016, included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a comparative RCT evaluating PRP versus low dose radiation as treatment for PF. All consecutive sportspersons presenting with clinical diagnosis of PF underwent treatment consisting of stretching exercises, activity modification, and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for 6 months. The first 40 patients who did not respond to treatment were divided randomly into 2 groups of 20 patients each: Group A (PRP) and Group B (low dose radiation [LDR]), and were monitored for 6 months. Outcome measurements were mean improvement in the pain score using VAS and AOFAS, as well as evaluation of PF thickness on US. Significant improvement in all 3 parameters was noted at the time of final follow up within both groups, with differences in outcomes for both groups being statistically insignificant. The researchers concluded that PRP is equivalent to LDR in patients with chronic recalcitrant PF not responding to PT. Limitations cited include study design, lack of standardized protocols for PRP injections, and lack of placebo group comparison.

Jain et al. (included in the Hayes review cited above) evaluated compared the efficacy of PRP to that of steroid for individuals with chronic PF resistant to traditional non-operative management in a randomized comparative study. Sixty heels with intractable PF who had failed conservative treatment received either PRP or steroid injection. Primary outcomes were assessed via the Roles-Maudsley (RM) Score, VAS for pain and the AOFAS score. Data was collected prospectively on the cohort, pre-treatment, at 3, 6 and 12 months post injection. Pre-injection and at 3 and 6 months, both groups were well matched with no statistically significant differences. At 12 months, the RM, VAS and AOFAS scores in the PRP arm (1.9, 3.3 and 88.5) were significantly better than the steroid arm (2.6, 5.3 and 75). The authors concluded that PRP is as effective as steroid injection at achieving symptom relief at 3 and 6 months after injection.

However at 12 months, PRP is significantly more effective making it more durable than cortisone injection. The limitation of this study was use of the AOFAS score as the only outcome measure, which may not have been the best tool for this condition and apparent lack of masking of the participants or investigaors to the assigned intervention, which could have resulted in biases (2015).

Shoulder

A 2018 Hayes comparative effectiveness review on PRP for treatment rotator cuff (RC) repairs, tendinopathies, and related conditions identified 1 good-quality systematic review/meta-analysis with findings from 15 RCTs, along with 6 additional primary RCTs, assessing the use of PRP in arthroscopic RC repair. Two RCTs were identified that examined PRP injections for treatment of partial RC tears or RC tendinopathy, and 2 RCTs were identified that examined PRP use with arthroscopic acromioplasty (AA) or needling for calcific tendinitis. Compared with no PRP, the use of PRP in arthroscopic RC repair may provide short-term benefits for functional improvement and pain reduction, but data were conflicting for this finding and benefits did not persist long term. Taken together, these findings provide some preliminary evidence that PRP may accelerate recovery from arthroscopic RC repair in the short term, but PRP treatment does not change long-term functional or pain outcomes. Limited evidence finds no difference in functional improvement with PRP injections for non-arthroscopic treatment of partial RC tears or tendinopathy, but findings were inconsistent with regard to pain. Finally, limited evidence suggests no difference in functional improvement after AA or needling for RC tendinopathy, along with no difference in pain relief after AA. The overall quality rating of this body of evidence is considered low to very low.

An RCT by Ebert et al. (2017, included in the Hayes review cited above) investigated whether the midterm clinical and radiographic outcomes of arthroscopic supraspinatus repair are enhanced after repeated postoperative applications of PRP. A total of 60 patients (30 control; 30 PRP) were initially randomized to receive 2 US-quided injections of PRP to the tendon repair site at 7 and 14 days after double-row arthroscopic supraspinatus repair or not. A total of 55 patients (91.7%) underwent a clinical review and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) at a mean of 3.5 years after surgery. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) included the Constant score, Quick Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder and Hand (QuickDASH) questionnaire, Oxford Shoulder Score (OSS), and VAS for pain. Global rating of change (GRC) scale and patient satisfaction scores were evaluated. Structural integrity of the surgical repair was assessed via MRI using the Sugaya classification system. At the midterm review, there was no difference between the groups for any of the PROMs. No differences between the groups were demonstrated for the subjective and ROM subscales of the Constant score, although a significantly higher Constant strength subscale score was observed in the PRP group. There was no evidence for any group differences in MRI scores or retear rates, with 66.7% of PRP patients and 64.3% of control patients rated as Sugaya grade 1. Two control patients had symptomatic retears (both full thickness) within the first 16 weeks after surgery compared with 2 PRP patients, who suffered symptomatic retears (both partial thickness) between 16 weeks and a mean 3.5-year follow-up. Significant postoperative clinical improvements and high levels of patient satisfaction were observed in patients at the midterm review after supraspinatus repair. The researchers concluded that while pain-free, maximal abduction strength was greater in the midterm in the PRP treatment group. Repeated applications of PRP delivered at 7 and 14 days after surgery provided no additional benefit to tendon integrity.

Pandey and colleagues (included in the Hayes review cited above) conducted a RCT to determine whether application of PRP improve outcomes after arthroscopic repair of RC tear. Subjects (PRP group n=52, control group n=50) with medium-sized and large degenerative posterosuperior tears were included for arthroscopic repair with a minimum follow-up of 2 years. Patients were evaluated with clinical scores (VAS, Constant-Murley score, University of California-Los Angeles (UCLA) score, and American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score) and US to assess retear and vascularity pattern of the cuff. VAS scores were significantly lower in the PRP group than in controls at 1, 3 and 6 months but not later. Constant-Murley scores were significantly better in the PRP group compared with controls at 12 and 24 months, whereas UCLA scores were significantly higher in the PRP group at 6 and 12 months. The American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score in both groups was comparable at all the times. At 24 months, retear in the PRP

group (n=2; 3.8%) was significantly lower than in the control group (n=10; 20%). Doppler US examination showed significant vascularity in the PRP group repair site at 3 months postoperatively and in peribursal tissue until 12 months. The researchers concluded that application of moderately concentrated PRP improves clinical and structural outcome in large RC tears and enhances vascularity around the repair site in the early phase. Study limitations included the lack of standardized procedures to ensure a consistent PRP preparation. Future research should include RCTs with larger sample sizes to evaluate PRP in large tears (2016).

Flury et al. (2016, included in the Hayes review cited above) investigated whether an intraoperative pure PRP injection compared with a local anesthetic injection improved patient-reported outcomes at 3 and 6 months after arthroscopic RC repair through a blinded RCT. Between January 2011 and November 2012, a total of 120 patients who underwent arthroscopic double-row repair of a supraspinatus tendon rupture were randomized to receive either pure PRP by an injection at the footprint (n=60) or ropivacaine injected in the subacromial region (control group; n=60). Concomitant tears were present in 78% of patients. Clinical parameters and various outcome scores (Constant-Murley shoulder score; OSS; patient American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons score; QuickDASH score; EuroQol 5 dimensions) were documented preoperatively and at 3, 6, and 24 months postoperatively. The repair integrity was assessed by MRI or US at 24 months. Furthermore, a pain diary was completed within the first 10 postoperative days, and AEs recorded. The final follow-up rate was 91%. An associated tear of the subscapularis tendon was diagnosed in 23% of PRP-treated patients and 36% of control patients. At 3 months post-surgery, the mean OSS was 32.9 ± 8.6 versus 30.7 ± 10.0 in PRP-treated and control patients, respectively. No significant differences were noted for other outcome parameters at 6 and 24 months. Pain for both groups decreased from postoperative day 1 to 10 without any significant group difference. Recurrent supraspinatus tendon defects were diagnosed in the PRP and control groups at 6 and 11, respectively. Localized AEs were experienced by 22 PRP-treated and 18 control group participants during the 24 month follow up period. The authors concluded that patients treated with pure PRP showed similar safety and efficacy at 3, 6, and 24 months following arthroscopic repair compared with control patients receiving ropivacaine.

In a prospective RCT, Verhaegen et al. (included in the Hayes review cited above) investigated the evolution of RC calcification and the role of PRP supplementation on the healing process. Patients (n=40) were evenly randomized to either group 1 (PRP) or group 2 (no PRP [control group]). Group 1 received a perioperative PRP infiltration during RC repair, whereas the control group did not. Patients were assessed preoperatively and postoperatively at 6 weeks, 3 and 6 months, and 1 year. The Constant score, Simple Shoulder Test, and QuickDASH were used as outcome measures. The evolution of the cuff defect was evaluated with US at 3 and 6 months and with MRI after 1 year. All patients improved significantly after surgery and there was no difference in clinical outcome or RC healing between groups. A high rate of persistent RC defects after 1 year was observed in both groups, and the presence of residual cuff defects did not influence the clinical outcome. The authors concluded that while they believed in the need for biologic enhancement in orthopedic surgery and RC healing specifically, this study could not identify any beneficial effect of the addition of PRP on RC healing (2016).

The clinical and tissue effects of the co-application of PRP injection with arthroscopic acromioplasty (AA) in patients with chronic RC tendinopathy was investigated by Carr et al. (2015, included in the Hayes review cited above) in a RCT of 60 individuals. The authors reported there was no significant difference in the OSS between AA alone and AA + PRP at any time point in the study. The authors noted that PRP significantly alters the tissue characteristics in tendons after surgery with reduced cellularity and vascularity and increased levels of apoptosis and the co-application of PRP may have potential deleterious effects on healing tendons.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE)
NICE's 2013 interventional procedures guidance on PRP injections for tendinopathy states that the

technology raises no major safety concerns however, the evidence on efficacy is limited in quality.

Therefore, this procedure should only be used with special arrangements for clinical governance, consent,

and audit or research. Further research is encouraged comparing autologous blood injections (ABI) (with or without techniques to produce PRP) against established non-surgical methods for managing tendinopathy. Trials should clearly describe patient selection (including the site of tendinopathy, duration of symptoms and any prior treatments) and document whether a 'dry needling' technique is used.

Outcomes should include specific measures of pain, QOL and function, and whether subsequent surgical intervention is needed.

Lateral Epicondylitis (LE)

In a comparative effectiveness review by Hayes, prolotherapy using PRP is identified as a minimally invasive treatment option for patients with persistent LE that is unresponsive to other conservative measures. Current evidence suggests that PRP may yield some long-term benefits that are not apparent before 6 months, particularly when compared with corticosteroid injection. Once PRP preparations are standardized and best practices are established, trials can identify which factors are associated with better outcomes, yielding more effective PRP preparations and patient selection criteria (2017; reviewed 2019).

In 2017, Merolla and colleagues conducted a prospective comparative randomized study to compare the efficacy of autologous PRP injections and arthroscopic lateral release in treating chronic LE. A total of 101 patients received arthroscopic release (n=50) or US-guided PRP injections (n=51). Outcomes were assessed using VAS for pain, the Patient-Rated Tennis Elbow Evaluation (PRTEE), and a calibrated hand dynamometer for grip strength. Follow up assessments intervals were at week 2, 4, 8, 12, 24, and at 1 and 2 years for the PRP group. While unable to be assessed at weeks 2 and 4 due to immobilization and rehabilitation, the arthroscopy group was evaluated at the same intervals. Both groups experienced significant improvement in all measures. The PRP group experienced significantly improved grip strength at week 8; all other significant differences were in favor of arthroscopy. Consumption of rescue pain medication was not significantly different between the groups. Authors concluded that while both procedures were safe and well accepted, arthroscopic release ensured better long-term outcomes than PRP injection. The findings are limited by lack of comparison to a placebo injection and active intervention in the non-PRP group.

A prospective double blind RCT was conducted by Schöffl et al. (included in the Hayes review cited above) comparing autologous conditioned plasma (ACP) to placebo in 50 patients with LE. The group was divided equally to receive either 1 round of injection therapy with ACP (PRP) or a placebo of normal saline with re-evaluation at 4 weeks and 6 months post-injection. Out of the 50, 18 patients from each group qualified for reevaluation. The difference between the DASH scores of the treatment and placebo groups was statistically insignificant at both 4 weeks and 6 months. The authors concluded that while a therapeutic effect was achieved in both groups, there was no therapeutically significant difference between ACP and placebo treatments. ACP/PRP injections need to be investigated in future studies (2017).

Foot Injuries

Görmeli and colleagues (2015) conducted a prospective, blinded RCT to compare the effects of HA and PRP as adjunct therapies after arthroscopic microfracture in osteochondral lesions (OCLs) of the talus. Patients with talar OCLs in their ankle joints (n=40) were treated with arthroscopic debridement and a microfracture technique. Thirteen randomly selected patients received PRP, 14 patients received HA, and the remaining 13 patients received saline as a control group. The participants were assessed using AOFAS and VAS scores after a 15month follow-up. Postoperatively, all the groups exhibited significantly increased AOFAS scores and decreased VAS scores compared with their preoperative results. The AOFAS scores were significantly increased in the PRP group versus the HA and control groups, although the increased AOFAS scores in the HA group versus the control group were also significant. Similar to the AOFAS scores, the decrease in the VAS scores was significantly lower in the PRP group versus the HA and control groups. The HA group had significantly lower VAS scores than the control group. The authors concluded that both PRP and HA injections improved the clinical outcomes of patients who underwent surgery for talar OCLs in the midterm period and can be used as adjunct therapies for these patients.

Because a single dose of PRP provided better results, they recommended PRP as the primary adjunct treatment option in the talar OCL postoperative period. Limitations to this study include small sample size, short follow up period, and no masking of the participants to the intervention, which could have introduce biases.

Mei-Dan et al. (2012) evaluated the short-term efficacy and safety of PRP versus HA in reducing pain and disability caused by OCLs of the ankle in an RCT with 32 patients. Participants were divided into the HA (group 1) or PRP (group 2). Thirty OCLs, 15 per arm, received 3 consecutive IA therapeutic injections and were followed for 28 weeks. Outcomes were measured using the AOFAS Ankle-Hindfoot Scale, VAS, and the subjective global function score. The authors found that while OCLs of the ankle treated with IA injections of PRP and HA both resulted in a decrease in pain scores and an increase in function for at least 6 months with minimal AEs, PRP treatment led to a significantly better outcome than HA. Study limitations include small sample size, short follow up period, suboptimal randomization, and lack of masking, which could have introduced biases.

Low Back Pain (LBP)

A 2018 Hayes Search and Summary (archived) found very limited peer-reviewed, published literature specific to the use of PRP to treat spinal ligaments or facet joints. Ten abstracts were retrieved, including a prospective randomized comparison study, a prospective uncontrolled study, a retrospective uncontrolled study, a case series, literature reviews, and review articles. They concluded there is insufficient published evidence to assess the safety and/or impact on health outcomes or patient management of the use of PRP to treat thoracic and lumbar spinal pain.

A randomized study by Wu et al. (included in the Hayes review cited above) compared efficacy and safety between autologous PRP and local anesthetic (LA)/corticosteroid IA injection for the treatment of lumbar facet joint syndrome. Forty-six patients were randomized into group A (IA injection with PRP) and group B (IA injection with LA/corticosteroid). Outcomes were assessed via the VAS, the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (RMQ), Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), and modified MacNab criteria for pain relief and applications of post-treatment drugs, and were performed prior to injection, at 1 week, and at 1, 2, 3, and 6 months post-injection. No significant difference between groups was observed at baseline. Compared with pretreatment, both group A and group B demonstrated statistical improvements in the pain VAS score at rest or during flexion, the RMO, and the ODI. For group B, subjective satisfaction based on the modified MacNab criteria and objective success rate were highest (80% and 85%) after 1 month, but only 50% and 20%, respectively after 6 months. However, for group A, they increased over time. No treatment-related complications were reported by either group. The authors concluded that both autologous PRP and LA/corticosteroid for IA injection are effective, easy, and safe enough in the treatment of lumbar facet joint syndrome. However, autologous PRP was considered superior due to longer duration of efficacy. Limitations to this study include short follow up period and small sample size (2017).

Singla and colleagues (2017) conducted a prospective randomized open blinded end point (PROBE) study to assess the efficacy and safety of PRP compared with methylprednisolone in US-guided sacroiliac joint (SIJ) injection for LBP. Patients (n=40) with chronic LBP and SIJ pathology were randomly allocated into 2 groups. Group S received 1.5 mL of methylprednisolone (40 mg/mL) and 1.5 mL of 2% lidocaine with 0.5 mL of saline, while Group P received 3 mL of leukocyte-free PRP with 0.5 mL of calcium chloride into US-guided SIJ injection. VAS scores, Modified Oswestry Disability Questionnaire (MODQ) scores, Short Form (SF-12) Health Survey scores, and complications (if any) were evaluated at 2, 4, 6, and 12 weeks. Intensity of pain was significantly lower in Group P at 6 and 12 weeks as compared to Group S. The efficacy of steroid injection was reduced to only 25% at 3 months in Group S, while it was 90% in Group P. Patients receiving PRP also showed a reduction of VAS ≥ 50% from baseline when other factors were controlled. The MODQ and SF-12 scores were improved initially for up to 4 weeks but deteriorated further at 3 months in Group S, while both the scores improved gradually in Group P for the entire follow up period. Authors concluded that PRP injection is an effective treatment modality in LBP involving the SIJ. Limitations include small study group size and short follow up period

A prospective, double-blind, RCT was conducted by Tuakli-Wosornu et al. (2016) to determine whether single injections of autologous PRP into symptomatic degenerative intervertebral disks will improve participant-reported pain and function. Adults (n=46) with chronic (≥ 6 months), moderate-to-severe lumbar diskogenic pain that was unresponsive to conservative treatment were randomized to receive intradiskal PRP (n=29) or contrast agent (n=18). Main outcome measures included the Functional Rating Index, Numeric Rating Scale for pain, the pain and physical function domains of the SF-36 Health Survey, and the modified North American Spine Society Outcome Questionnaire. Data on pain, physical function, and participant satisfaction were collected at 1 week, 4 weeks, 8 weeks, 6 months, and 1 year. Participants in the control group who did not improve at 8 weeks were offered the option to receive PRP and subsequently followed. Over 8 weeks of follow-up, there were statistically significant improvements in participants who received intradiskal PRP with regards to pain, function, and patient satisfaction compared with controls. No AEs of disk space infection, neurologic injury, or progressive herniation were reported following the injection of PRP. The authors concluded that intradiskal PRP injection resulted in significant improvements in function, pain, and patient satisfaction scores over 8 weeks compared with controls. Those who received PRP maintained significant improvements functional scores through at least 1 year of follow-up. Study limitation cited was the very limited follow up time of only 8 weeks for the randomized portion of the study and differencial exclusion of participants after randomization. The authors concluded that although these results are promising, further studies are needed to define the subset of candidates most likely to respond to biologic intradiskal treatment and the ideal cellular characteristics of the intradiskal PRP injectate.

Wounds

Moneib et al. (2018) performed a study to compare the clinical efficacy of PRP in the management of chronic VLUs vs conventional treatment. Subjects (n=40) were equally randomized to treatment with autologous PRP weekly for 6 weeks (Group A) or treated conventionally for 6 weeks (compression and dressing/Group B). Treatment results were calculated by percentage of improvement in area of the ulcer. The authors reported that compared to conventional therapy, a highly significant improvement in the ulcer size was observed post-PRP therapy. Subjective improvement in pain associated with the ulcer was noted by all patients. They concluded that PRP is a safe nonsurgical procedure for treating chronic VLUs. Additional studies with larger sample size and longer follow-up periods are required to confirm or refute the findings. The findings are limited by lack of masking to the intervention allocation, which could have introduce biases and unclear randomization method.

A systematic review was performed by Miron et al. (2017) to analyze studies utilizing platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) for soft tissue regeneration, augmentation, and/or wound healing. Thirty one clinical studies were included; a total of 8 reported the effects of PRF in a RCT, with 5 additional studies (13 total) reporting appropriate controls. Fifty-eight percent of clinical studies reported positive wound healing events associated with the use of PRF. Twenty-seven of the 31 studies (87%) supported the use of PRF for soft tissue regeneration and wound healing for a variety of procedures in medicine and dentistry. The findings of the RCT were conflicting with a number of studies showing no benefit of PRP. While the authors concluded that the currently available literature supports soft tissue regeneration after soft tissue regenerative procedures utilizing PRF, they stated there is a lack of appropriate controls with which to conduct comparative analyses. The authors note that it is imperative that the next wave of research utilizing PRF as an adjunct to soft tissue regenerative therapies designs appropriate studies with necessary controls to further evaluate the regenerative potential of PRF for soft tissue wound healing.

The primary objective of a case series performed by Suthar et al. (2017) was to assess the efficacy of PRP in wound/ulcer healing by evaluating the percentage reduction in wound/ulcer size over the 24 weeks follow-up period by visual inspection. The secondary objectives included safety and feasibility of autologous PRP injections, time to wound/ulcer healing, improvement in pain or discomfort, and QOL. Twenty-four patients with non-healing ulcers of different etiologies were treated with a single dose of a combination of autologous PRP gel and subcutaneous injections of PRP in and around the wound periphery. All the patients showed signs of wound healing with reduction in wound size, and the mean

time duration to ulcer healing was 8.2 weeks. Reduction in pain was observed in all the patients post-treatment and the patients' QOL significantly improved. The authors concluded that PRP is a safe and effective treatment modality for chronic non-healing ulcers and recommended that further research with prospective RCTs on larger patient population are necessary to validate the results. Limitations include study design with no comparison group, small sample size, and short follow up.

In a meta-analysis, Martinez-Zapata et al. (2016) examined whether autologous PRP promotes the healing of chronic wounds. Ten RCTs that compared autologous PRP with placebo or alternative treatments for any type of chronic wound in adults were included (n=442). Four RCTs recruited people with a range of chronic wounds; three RCTs recruited people with VLUs and three RCTs studied foot ulcers in people with diabetes. The median length of treatment was 12 weeks. The authors concluded that the results were non-conclusive as to whether autologous PRP improves the healing of chronic wounds generally compared with standard treatment. Autologous PRP may increase the healing of foot ulcers in people with diabetes compared with standard care, but it is unclear if autologous PRP has an effect on other types of chronic wounds. Three studies reported wound complications such as infection or dermatitis, but results showed no difference in the risk of AEs in people treated with PRP or standard care. These findings are based on low quality evidence due to the small number of studies and patients included, and their poor methodological quality.

Escamilla Cardenosa et al. (2017) conducted an unblinded randomized control trial to analyze the efficacy and safety of using platelet rich in growth factor (PRGF) as a local treatment for venous ulcers. The study included 58 patients (n=102 ulcers) who were randomly assigned to the study group (application of PRGF) or the control group (wet-to-dry dressing changes with saline) over a 24-week period. The average percentage healed area in the platelet rich plasma (PRP) group was 67.7% (vs 11.2% in the control group). PRP group members had greater reduction in pain. No adverse effects were observed in either of the two treatment groups. The authors concluded that the study results reveal that application of plasma rich in platelets is an effective and safe method to speed up healing and reduce pain in venous ulcers. The small sample size and lack of blinded assessment are factors compromising the quality of the evidence.

Carter et al. (2011) conducted an industry-sponsored systematic review and meta-analysis to evaluate the use platelet rich plasma (PRP) for the treatment of cutaneous wounds compared to standard wound care. Twenty-four studies met inclusion criteria. These studies included 3 systematic reviews, 12 randomized controlled trials, 2 prospective cohort studies, 3 prospective comparative studies and 4 retrospective reviews. The results of the meta-analysis suggested that PRP therapy can positively impact wound healing and associated factors such as pain and infection in cutaneous wounds. Limitations of the studies included heterogeneous patient populations, lack of long-term follow-up, -pooling of data on different types of PFG products and regimens, and possible conflicts of interest. Several of the studies included in the meta-analysis had conflicting results.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE)

In a diabetic inpatient clinical guideline, NICE recommends that autologous PRP gel should not be offered as treatment for diabetic foot problems unless part of a clinical trial (2016).

Professional Societies

American Academy of Orthopaedics (AAOS)

The AAOS indicated that guidelines and standards are in development on the conduct and reporting requirements associated with PRP as well as characterized and uncharacterized cell products. Those guidelines are expected to address candidate biologic targets and clinical outcome metrics including imaging metrics for treatment of chronic tendon injuries, acute ligament and muscle injuries, surgical soft tissue repairs, and KOA (2018).

Wound Healing Society

<u>In guidelines for the treatment of venous ulcers, the Wound Healing Society states that cytokine growth factors [includes platelet-derived growth factor] have yet to be shown to demonstrate sufficient</u>

statistically significant results of effectiveness to recommend any of them for treatment of venous ulcers, although isolated reports suggest their potential usefulness (Level I) (Marston et al., 2016).

American College of Physicians (ACP)

ACP published 2015 guidelines on the treatment of pressure ulcers. The guidelines noted that "although low quality evidence suggests that dressings containing Platelet derived growth factors (PDGF) promote healing, ACP supports the use of other dressings such as hydrocolloid and foam dressings, which are effective at promoting healing and cost less than PDGF dressings."

U.S. FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION (FDA)

This section is to be used for informational purposes only. FDA approval alone is not a basis for coverage.

Prolotherapy and platelet rich plasma therapy are procedures and, therefore, not subject to FDA regulation. However, any medical devices, drugs, biologics, or tests used as a part of these procedures may be subject to FDA regulation.

Two sclerosing agents have been approved by the FDA: sodium tetradecyl sulfate (Sotradecol®) and ethanolamine (Ethamolin®) for the treatment of varicose veins and esophageal varices. The agents used in the reviewed studies, such as dextrose and lidocaine, are approved for injection by the FDA but are not specifically approved for prolotherapy for joint and ligamentous injections, making such use off-label.

Another agent, sodium morrhuate (Scleromate®), is not currently listed as an approved sclerosing agent per the FDA.

NStride® (Zimmer Biomet), an autologous protein solution device, does not have FDA approval and is limited to investigational use. Additional information, under active ingredient name sodium tetradecyl sulfate and ethanolamine, is available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/index.cfm?event=overview.process&ApplNo=040541 and https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/index.cfm?event=BasicSearch.process. (Accessed September 10 November 17, 20 2019)

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES (CMS)

Medicare does not cover prolotherapy. Refer to the National Coverage Determination (NCD) for Prolotherapy, Joint Sclerotherapy, and Ligamentous Injections with Sclerosing Agents (150.7). Local Coverage Determinations (LCDs)/Local Coverage Articles (LCAs) do not exist at this time.

<u>Platelet rich plasma (PRP) may be covered if criteria are met. Refer to the NCD for Blood-Derived Products for Chronic Non-Healing Wounds (270.3). LCDs /LCAs exist; see the LCDs/LCAs for Platelet Rich Plasma, (Accessed October 14, 2020)</u>

Medicare does not cover prolotherapy. See the National Coverage Determination (NCD) for Prolotherapy, Joint Sclerotherapy, and Ligamentous Injections with Sclerosing Agents (150.7). Local Coverage Determinations (LCDs) do not exist at this time.

Platelet rich plasma (PRP) may be covered if criteria are met. See the NCD for Blood Derived Products for Chronic Non-Healing Wounds (270.3). LCDs exist; see the LCDs for Category III CPT® Codes, Non-Covered Services, Non-Covered Category III CPT Codes, Services That Are Not Reasonable and Necessary, Wound Application of Cellular and/or Tissue Based Products (CTPs), Lower Extremities and Application of Bioengineered Skin Substitutes to Lower Extremity Chronic Non-Healing Wounds. (Accessed August 14, 2019)

REFERENCES

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). AAOS Tackles Controversies Surrounding the Use of Biologics in Orthopaedic Surgery. https://www.aaos.org/CustomTemplates/Content.aspx?id=6442463013. Published April 2018. Accessed August 14, 2019.

American Association of Orthopaedic Medicine (AAOM) Prolotherapy Information Page. https://www.aaomed.org/Prolotherapy-injections-for-pain. Accessed October 26, 2020. August 14, 2019.

American College of Physicians. Treatment of Pressure Ulcers: A Clinical Practice Guideline 2015.

American Osteopathic Association of Prolotherapy Regenerative Medicine (AOAPRM). What is Prolotherapy? Information page. http://prolotherapycollege.org/what-is-prolotherapy/. Accessed October 26, 2020 August 14, 2019.

Annaniemi JA, Pere J, Giordano S. Platelet-Rrich Pplasma ∀versus Hhyaluronic Aacid Iinjections for Kknee ⊕osteoarthritis: A Ppropensity-Score Aanalysis. Scand J Surg. 2018 Nov 25:1457496918812218.

Balasubramaniam U, Dissanayake R, Annabell L. Efficacy of platelet-rich plasma injections in pain associated with chronic tendinopathy: A systematic review. Phys Sportsmed. 2015.

<u>Battaglia M, Guaraldi F, Vannini F, et al. Efficacy of ultrasound-guided intra-articular injections of platelet-rich plasma versus hyaluronic acid for hip osteoarthritis. Orthopedics. 2013 Dec;36(12):e1501-8.</u>

Bayat M, Raeissadat SA, Mortazavian Babaki M, Rahimi-Dehgolan S. Is Dextrose Prolotherapy Superior To Corticosteroid Injection In Patients With Chronic Lateral Epicondylitis?: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Orthop Res Rev. 2019;11:167-175. Published 2019 Nov 5. doi:10.2147/ORR.S218698

Bertrand H, Reeves KD, Bennett CJ, et al. Dextrose prolotherapy versus control injections in painful rotator cuff tendinopathy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016; 97(1):17-25.

Boesen AP, Hansen R, Boesen MI, et al. Effect of Hhigh-Volume Linjection, Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma, and Ssham Ttreatment in Cchronic Mmidportion Achilles Ttendinopathy: A Rrandomized Ddouble-Bblinded Pprospective Sstudy. Am J Sports Med. 2017 Jul;45(9):2034-2043.

Carr AJ, Murphy R, Dakin SG, et al. Platelet-Rrich Pplasma Injection ₩with Aarthroscopic Aacromioplasty for €chronic Rrotator €cuff Ttendinopathy: A Rrandomized €controlled Ttrial. Am J Sports Med 2015;43(12):2891-7.

<u>Carter MJ, Fylling CP, Parnell LK. Use of platelet rich plasma gel on wound healing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eplasty. 2011;11:e38.</u>

Chou R, Atlas SJ, Stanos SP, et al. Nonsurgical interventional therapies for low back pain: a review of the evidence for an American pain society clinical practice guideline. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009 May 1;34(10):1078-93.

Cömert Kiliç S, Güngörmüş M. Is dextrose prolotherapy superior to placebo for the treatment of temporomandibular joint hypermobility? A randomized clinical trial. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016 Jul;45(7):813-9.

Dagenais S, Mayer J, Haldeman S, et al. Evidence-informed management of chronic low back pain with prolotherapy. Spine J. 2008 Jan-Feb;8(1):203-12.

Dagenais S, Yelland MJ, Del Mar C, et al. Prolotherapy injections for chronic low-back pain. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD004059. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004059.pub3.

Dallari D, Stagni C, Rani N, et al. Ultrasound-Gguided Injection of Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma and Hhyaluronic Aacid, Sseparately and in Combination, for Hhip Oosteoarthritis: A Rrandomized Controlled Sstudy. Am J Sports Med. 2016 Mar;44(3):664-71.

Delanois RE, Etcheson JI, Sodhi N, et al. Biologic Therapies for the Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis. J Arthroplasty. 2019 Apr;34(4):801-813.

Di Martino A, Di Matteo B, Papio T, et al. Platelet-Rrich Pplasma ∀versus Hhyaluronic Aacid Iinjections for the ∓treatment of Kknee ⊕osteoarthritis: Results at 5 Yyears of a ⊕double-Bblind, Rrandomized €controlled ∓trial. Am J Sports Med. 2018 Dec 13:363546518814532.

<u>Dold AP, Zywiel MG, Taylor DW, et al. Platelet-rich plasma in the management of articular cartilage</u> pathology: a systematic review. Clin J Sport Med. 2014 Jan;24(1):31-43.

Dong W, Goost H, Lin X, et al. Injection therapies for lateral epicondylalgia: a systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2015 Sep 21. pii: bjsports-2014-094387.

<u>Dragoo JL, Wasterlain AS, Braun HJ, et al. Platelet-rich plasma as a treatment for patellar tendinopathy: a double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Am J Sports Med. 2014 Mar;42(3):610-8.</u>

Ebert JR, Wang A, Smith A, et al. A Midterm Evaluation of Ppostoperative Pplatelet-Rrich Plasma <u>Finited States on Augustian States on Augustian</u>

<u>Escamilla Cardenosa M, Dominguez-MaldonadoG, Cordoba-Fernandez A. Efficacy and safety of the use of platelet-rich plasma to manage venous ulcers. Journal of Tissue Viability. 2017 May;26(2):138-43.</u>

Flury M, Rickenbacher D, Schwyzer HK, et al. Does Ppure Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma Aaffect Ppostoperative Colinical Outcomes Aafter Aarthroscopic Rrotator Cuff Rrepair? A Rrandomized Controlled Ttrial. Am J Sports Med. 2016 Aug;44(8):2136-46.

Görmeli G, Karakaplan M, Görmeli CA, et al. Clinical Eeffects of Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma and Hhyaluronic Aacid as an Aadditional Ttherapy for Ttalar Oosteochondral Llesions Ttreated with Mmicrofracture Surgery: A Pprospective Rrandomized Cclinical Ttrial. Foot Ankle Int. 2015 Aug;36(8):891-900.

Gogna P, Gaba S, Mukhopadhyay R, et al. Plantar fasciitis: A randomized comparative study of platelet rich plasma and low dose radiation in sportspersons. Foot (Edinb). 2016 Aug; 28:16-19.

Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Comparative Effectiveness Review of Platelet-Rich Plasma for Knee Osteoarthritis: A Review of Reviews. Lansdale, PA. Hayes, Inc. December 2017, Annual review November 2018.

Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Comparative Effectiveness Review of Platelet-Rich Plasma for Tendinopathies or Ligament Injuries of the Knee: A Review of Reviews. Lansdale, PA. Hayes, Inc. December 2017, Annual review March May 201920.

Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Comparative Effectiveness Review of Platelet-Rich Plasma for Rotator Cuff Repairs, Tendinopathies, and Related Conditions: A Review of Reviews. Lansdale, PA. Hayes, Inc. May 31September 15, 201820.

<u>Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Platelet-Rich Plasma for Hip Osteoarthritis. Lansdale, PA:</u> Hayes, Inc.; June 14, 2019.

Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Platelet-Rich Plasma for Treatment of Conditions of the Achilles Tendon and Plantar Fascia. Lansdale, PA: Hayes, Inc.; March June 14, 201920.

Hayes, Inc., Medical Technology Directory. Platelet-Rich Plasma for Treatment of Lateral Epicondylitis: A Review of Reviews. Lansdale, PA: Hayes, Inc.; December 8, 2017. Annual review November 2018.

Hayes, Inc., Search and Summary. Platelet-Rich Plasma for Treatment of Thoracic and Lumbar Spinal Pain. Lansdale, PA. Hayes, Inc. October 2018.

Hung CY, Hsiao MY, Chang KV, et al. Comparative effectiveness of dextrose prolotherapy versus control injections and exercise in the management of osteoarthritis pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain Res. 2016;9:847-857.

Jahangiri A, Moghaddam FR, Najafi S. Hypertonic dextrose versus corticosteroid local injection for the treatment of osteoarthritis in the first carpometacarpal joint: a double-blind randomized clinical trial. J Orthop Sci. 2014 Sep;19(5):737-43.

Jain K, Murphy PN, Clough TM. Platelet rich plasma versus corticosteroid injection for plantar fasciitis: A comparative study. Foot (Edinb). 2015 Dec;25(4):235-7.

Kon E, Engebretsen L, Verdonk P, et al. Clinical Outcomes of Knee Osteoarthritis Treated With an Autologous Protein Solution Injection: A 1-Year Pilot Double-Blinded Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Sports Med. 2017 Oct 1:363546517732734.

Krstičević M, Jerić M, Došenović S, et al. Proliferative injection therapy for osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Int Orthop. 2017Apr;41(4):671-679.

Laudy AB, Bakker EW, Rekers et al. Efficacy of platelet-rich plasma injections in osteoarthritis of the knee: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2015 May;49(10):657-72.

Lee DH, Kwack KS, Rah UW, et al. Prolotherapy for refractory rotator cuff disease: Retrospective case-control study of 1-year follow-up. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2015;96(11):2027-2032.

Lin KY, Yang CC, Hsu CJ, et al. Intra-articular Jinjection of Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma Is Ssuperior to Hhyaluronic Aacid or Ssaline Ssolution in the ∓treatment of Hmild to Hmoderate Kknee ⊕osteoarthritis: A Rrandomized, Ddouble-Bblind, Ttriple-Pparallel, Pplacebo-Controlled Cclinical Ttrial, Arthroscopy, 2019 Jan;35(1):106-117.

Louw WF, K. Reeves D, Lam, SKH, et al. Treatment of Temporomandibular Dysfunction With Hypertonic Dextrose Injection (Prolotherapy): A Randomized Controlled Trial With Long-term Partial Crossover. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2019-05-01, Volume 94, Issue 5, Pages 820-832, Mayo Foundation for Medical **Education and Research.**

Marston W, Tang J, Kirsner R, et al. Wound healing society 2015 update on guidelines for venous ulcers. Wound Repair and Regeneration. 2016(24): 136-144.

Martinez-Zapata MJ, Martí-Carvajal AJ, Sola I, et al. Autologous platelet-rich plasma for treating chronic wounds. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;(5).

Mei-Dan O, Carmont MR, Laver L, et al. Platelet-rich plasma or hyaluronate in the management of osteochondral lesions of the talus. Am J Sports Med. 2012 Mar;40(3):534-41.

Merolla G, Dellabiancia F, Ricci A, et al. Arthroscopic ⊕debridement ∀versus ₽platelet-Rrich ₽plasma <u>Hinjection: A Pprospective, Rrandomized, Ecomparative Sstudy of Echronic Llateral Eepicondylitis Wwith a</u> Nnearly 2-Yyear Ffollow-Uup. Arthroscopy. 2017 Jul;33(7):1320-1329.

Miron RJ, Fujioka-Kobayashi M, Bishara M et al. Platelet-rich fibrin and soft tissue wound healing: A systematic review. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2017 Feb; 23(1):83-99.

Moneib HA, Youssef SS, Alv DG, et al. Autologous platelet-rich plasma versus conventional therapy for the treatment of chronic venous leg ulcers: A comparative study. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2018 Jun;17(3):495-501.

Morath O, Kubosch EJ, Taeymans J, et al. The effect of sclerotherapy and prolotherapy on chronic painful Achilles tendinopathy-a systematic review including meta-analysis, Scand J Med Sci Sports, 2018 Jan; 28(1):4-15.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Autologous blood injection for tendinopathy. Interventional procedures guidance [IPG438]. January 2013.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). NG19 Diabetic foot problems: prevention and management NICE guideline. August 26, 2015. Updated January 2016.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Platelet-rich plasma injections for knee osteoarthritis. Interventional procedures guidance [IPG637]. January 2019.

Newberry SJ, FitzGerald J, SooHoo NF, et al. Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: An Update Review. Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 190. (Prepared by the RAND Southern California Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-2015-00010-I.) AHRO Publication No.17-EHC011-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; May 2017.

O'Shaughnessey K, Matuska A, Hoeppner J, et al. Autologous protein solution prepared from the blood of osteoarthritic patients contains an enhanced profile of anti-inflammatory cytokines and anabolic growth factors. J Orthop Res. 2014 Oct; 32(10):1349-55.

Pandey V, Bandi A, Madi S, et al. Does application of moderately concentrated platelet-rich plasma improve clinical and structural outcome after arthroscopic repair of medium-sized to large rotator cuff tear? A randomized controlled trial. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2016 Aug;25(8):1312-22.

Rabago D, Kijowski R, Woods M, et al. Association between disease-specific quality of life and magnetic resonance imaging outcomes in a clinical trial of prolotherapy for knee osteoarthritis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*. 2013;94(11):2075-2082. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.06.025

Rabago D, Lee KS, Ryan M, et al. Hypertonic Dextrose and Morrhuate Sodium Injections (Prolotherapy) for Lateral Epicondylosis (Tennis Elbow): Results of a Single-blind, Pilot-Level, Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2013 Jan 3.

Rabago D, Mundt M, Zgierska A, et al. Hypertonic dextrose injection (prolotherapy) for knee osteoarthritis: Long term outcomes. Complement Ther Med. 2015 Jun;23(3):388-95.

Rabago D, Slattengren A, Zgierska A. Prolotherapy in primary care practice. Prim Care. 2010 Mar;37(1):65-80.

Rahimzadeh P, Imani F, Faiz SHR, Entezary SR, Zamanabadi MN, Alebouyeh MR. The effects of injecting intra-articular platelet-rich plasma or prolotherapy on pain score and function in knee osteoarthritis. Clin Interv Aging. 2018 Jan 4;13:73-79. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S147757. PMID: 29379278; PMCID: PMC5757490.

Refai H, Altahhan O, Elsharkawy R. The efficacy of dextrose prolotherapy for temporomandibular joint hypermobility: a preliminary prospective, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011 Dec;69(12):2962-70.

Ryu K, Ko D, Lim G, Kim E, Lee SH. Ultrasound-Guided Prolotherapy with Polydeoxyribonucleotide for Painful Rotator Cuff Tendinopathy. Pain Res Manag. 2018;2018:8286190. Published 2018 Mar 25. doi:10.1155/2018/8286190

Sanderson LM, Bryant A. Effectiveness and safety of prolotherapy injections for management of lower limb tendinopathy and fasciopathy: a systematic review. J Foot Ankle Res. 2015 Oct 20;8:57.

Schöffl V, Willauschus W, Sauer F, et al. Autologous €conditioned Pplasma ∀versus Pplacebo Iinjection †therapy in Lateral Eepicondylitis of the Eelbow: A Double Bblind, Rrandomized Sstudy. Sportverletz Sportschaden. 2017 Jan;31(1):31-36.

Seven MM, Ersen O, Akpancar S, et al. Effectiveness of prolotherapy in the treatment of chronic rotator cuff lesions. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2017 May;103(3):427-433.

Sims SE, Miller K, Elfar JC, et al. Non-surgical treatment of lateral epicondylitis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Hand (N Y). 2014 Dec;9(4):419-46.

Singla V, Batra YK, Bharti N, et al. Steroid vs. Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma in Uultrasound-Gguided Ssacroiliac Fjoint Finjection for Echronic Flow Bback Ppain. Pain Pract. 2017 Jul;17(6):782-791.

Sit RW, Chung VCh, Reeves KD, et al. Hypertonic dextrose injections (prolotherapy) in the treatment of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2016;6:25247.

Suthar M, Gupta S, Bukhari S, et al. Treatment of chronic non-healing ulcers using autologous platelet rich plasma: A case series. J Biomed Sci. 2017 Feb 27;24(1):16.

Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, 23rd Edition. Copyright © 2017 F. A. Davis Company. All rights reserved.

Topol GA, Reeves KD. Regenerative injection of elite athletes with career-altering chronic groin pain who fail conservative treatment: a consecutive case series. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2008 Nov;87(11):890-902.

Tuakli-Wosornu YA, Terry A, Boachie-Adjei K, et al. Lumbar Intradiskal Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma (PRP) Injections: A Pprospective, Odouble-Bolind, Rrandomized Controlled Study. PM R. 2016 Jan;8(1):1-10; quiz 10.

Usuelli FG, Grassi M, Maccario C, et al. Intratendinous adipose-derived stromal vascular fraction (SVF) injection provides a safe, efficacious treatment for Achilles tendinopathy: results of a randomized controlled clinical trial at a 6-month follow-up. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2018 Jul;26(7):2000-2010.

van Drumpt RA, van der Weegen W, King W, et al. Safety and Treatment Effectiveness of a Single Autologous Protein Solution Injection in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis. Biores Open Access. 2016 Aug 1;5(1):261-8.

<u>Verhaegen F, Brys P, Debeer P. Rotator cuff healing after needling of a calcific deposit using platelet-rich plasma augmentation: a randomized, prospective clinical trial. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2016</u> Feb;25(2):169-73.

<u>Washington State Health Care Authority. Health Technology Assessment. Autologous Blood or Platelet</u> Rich Plasma Injections. April 2016.

Wu J, Zhou J, Liu C, et al. A Pprospective Sstudy Comparing Pplatelet-Rrich Pplasma and Llocal Aanesthetic (LA)/Ccorticosteroid in Fintra-Aarticular Finjection for the ∓treatment of Llumbar Ffacet Fjoint Ssyndrome. Pain Pract. 2017 Sep;17(7):914-924.

Zhou H, Hu K, Ding Y. Modified dextrose prolotherapy for recurrent temporomandibular joint dislocation. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014 Jan;52(1):63-6.

POLICY HISTORY/REVISION INFORMATION

Date	Action/Description
<u>TBD</u>	 Coverage Rationale Consolidated Prolotherapy, and Platelet Rich Plasma into one unproven/not medically necessary statement Removed reference to MCG Care Guidelines Supporting Information Updated Description of Services, Clinical Evidence, FDA, CMS, and References sections to reflect the most current information Archived previous policy version CS103.K

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE

This Medical Policy provides assistance in interpreting UnitedHealthcare standard benefit plans. When deciding coverage, the federal, state or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage must be referenced as the terms of the federal, state or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage may differ from the standard benefit plan. In the event of a conflict, the federal, state or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage govern. Before using this policy, please check the federal, state or contractual requirements for benefit plan coverage. UnitedHealthcare reserves the right to modify its Policies and Guidelines as necessary. This Medical Policy is provided for informational purposes. It does not constitute medical advice.

UnitedHealthcare may also use tools developed by third parties, such as the MCG[™] Care Guidelines, to assist us in administering health benefits. The UnitedHealthcare Medical Policies are intended to be used in connection with the independent professional medical judgment of a qualified health care provider and do not constitute the practice of medicine or medical advice.